ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA DE HALL. CASE NO. SC08-1636 THOMAS D. HALL.

PAUL GLENN EVERETT, Appellant 2009 APR -8 A 10:51 CLERK. SUPREME COURT

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee

Appeal of: Paul Glenn Everett, <u>Appellant, vs State of Florida, Appellee</u>, Case No. 01-2956.

APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully Submitted By:

Charles E. Lykes, Jr., Esquire Counsel for Appellant 501 S. Ft. Harrison Ave., Suite 101 Clearwater, Florida 33756

Telephone: 727-441-8308 Facsimile: 727-442-8562

Email: charles@lykeslaw.com

FBN: 291341

I.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of prior proceedings.

1. Format.

In order to simplify consideration of this matter by this Honorable Court the Appellant (who may alternatively be referred to as the Appellant) will refer to testimony in the evidentiary hearing conducted in December, 2007, with the reference designation "(ET.X.)" where X. is the page number in the transcript of the evidentiary hearing. As this appeal will also encompass events from the trial and perhaps even matters from outside the trial, these matters will be attached to the record in an appellate appendix and will be referred to by "(AE.X.)" where X. is the exhibit number within the appellate appendix. If any appellate appendix exhibit is substantial in nature further references will be made to enable easy location of the referenced passage within the appellate appendix. Other references, such as to the original petition, will be specified where made.

2. Present Status of the Case.

The Appellant hereby challenges and seeks relief from the verdicts of guilt to the offenses of murder in the first-degree, burglary accompanied with battery, and sexual battery with serious physical force rendered on November 21, 2002; the recommendation by the jury to impose the death penalty rendered on November

22, 2002; and the resulting sentence of this Honorable Court on January 9, 2003, in which this Honorable Court entered a judgment of conviction and ordered that the sentence be that of the imposition of death by lethal injection with respect to murder in the first degree and consecutive life sentences to the other charges.

This matter was appealed to the Florida Supreme Court and the Florida Supreme Court denied relief and allowed the judgment, conviction, and sentence to stand on November 24, 2004.

The Appellant thereon filed a petition for a writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court in the United States Supreme Court, by order dated April 18, 2005, declined to take any action or to review the proceedings herein.

The present petition was filed on March 30, 2006. On September 11, 2006, the Trial Court entered an order denying portions of the petition and setting several matters for evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing was conducted December 17-19, 2007, and the petition was denied on July 17, 2008.

It is from this denial that the present appeal is taken.

B. Statement of facts.

1. Background Facts.

The offenses occurred on or about November 2, 2001. (R.001-2) The body of Ms. Kelli Bailey, the victim, was discovered by her stepfather that evening when

it was reported to him that she had failed to report for work. The crime scene was processed by local law enforcement and the Medical Examiner was called in. The premises were photographed. Samples of fluids were taken from Ms. Bailey's vagina. The premises were also examined and analyzed for latent fingerprints. Proximate to the premises but outside were found a sweater with the victim's credit card in a pocket and a fishbat.

Shortly after the investigation was begun a Panama City Beach Police officer saw a fishbat which was identical to the one found near Ms. Bailey's home that evening. His investigation lead to a videotape of the purchase of one such fishbat shortly before the crimes were committed. Two weeks or more after the death of Ms. Bailey it was reported that some local high school students, who had been at some form of party at a hotel near the crime scene had heard rumors associating a person named "Paul" with the crimes. The source of this information was traced to an individual named Jared Farmer, from Alabama. At least one of these students had heard from Jared Farmer that the death of Ms. Bailey was by strangulation.

Mr. Farmer was questioned. At first he denied significant contact with the Appellant and denied being with Appellant at the purchase of the fishbat. After persuasion by his mother and confrontation with the videotape showing him

present at the purchase of the fishbat, Mr. Farmer acknowledged a closer association with the Appellant, but did not acknowledge his presence at the time of the offense.

The Appellant had been taken into custody by Alabama bounty hunters at approximately 8:30 PM the evening of November 2, 2001, on unrelated Alabama charges. He was delivered to the Baldwin County, Alabama jail and later visited there by Panama City Police for questioning. (ET.00744-764) Appellant had been afforded no opportunity to speak with counsel nor was Florida counsel even available to him in Alabama. At the initial questioning on November 14, 2001, the Appellant was questioned about his activities at the residence of Ms. Bailey during the early evening of November without even knowing that Ms. Bailey had been killed. When Det. Tilley began to challenge and question his statement, the Appellant unequivocally invoked his right to counsel. Questioning ceased. Det. Tilley admonished Appellant that the offense was punishable by "lethal injection."

Despite his invocation of the right to counsel the Appellant was approached by or at the request of Panama City police on two subsequent occasions. Appellant, incarcerated in Alabama, still had no counsel appointed or available for consultation with respect to this offense. These visits were coordinated between the Panama City Beach Police Dept. and Det. Murphy of the Baldwin County jail.

Det. Murphy would inform the Appellant of the arrival of Panama City Beach police and take him to a room for the meetings. One approach was to ask for the Appellant's consent for samples of his blood and a swab of his saliva. A later meeting was for the purpose of serving Appellant with an arrest warrant for the crimes. (R.00851-882)

Prior to the appearances of the Panama City police and regularly throughout his period of confinement in Alabama the Appellant was repeatedly approached by Det. Murphy. Frequent mention was made of the present homicide. This was the principal subject of inquiry for Appellant from Murphy. Det. Murphy on numerous occasions indicated to the Appellant that his best hope for avoiding lethal injection would be a confession to the offense. These conversations would be accompanied with representations of the crime scene such as diagrams and other comments relating to this.

On November 19, 2001, five days after the Appellant had first expressed his desire to speak with counsel, there was another interview with the Appellant by Det. Murphy. The record of the interview begins with a prolonged statement from Det. Murphy reciting that the Appellant, after having invoked his rights, had indicated a desire to speak with law enforcement concerning the offense without counsel. It does not recite how this contact was made. The Appellant is recorded,

both orally and in writing, as waiving his rights but he does not state when or how contact was initiated either. In fact, the Appellant did not initiate the contact with Det. Murphy. The contact was, in fact, initiated by Det. Murphy about the submission of the samples and the Appellant, only in response to more remarks about the possibility of lethal injection, agreed to discuss the present offense.

The Appellant substantially repeated the earlier statement regarding the events, again providing that "Bubba" Wilson had inflicted the mortal wounds but that he (Appellant) had consensual sex with Ms. Bailey prior to that. The recording was apparently of poor quality so there are inaudible portions. Additionally, there are unexplained interruptions. What is particularly significant about this interview is that the Appellant again invoked right to counsel requiring the interview to cease.

On November 27, 2001, Det. Murphy was advised that Det. Tilley desired to see the Appellant for the purpose of serving the Appellant with a warrant for his arrest for these crimes. Appellant was again approached by Deputy Murphy and the subject of the present homicide was raised by Deputy Murphy. Appellant, still incarcerated in Alabama, had never been afforded the opportunity to consult with counsel regarding this case even though he had already twice invoked his right to counsel and stated his desire to consult counsel. As a result of this contact

Appellant was convinced by Det. Murphy to speak with Panama City Beach police detectives even though he had still not received an appointment of counsel for the present offense. Panama City Beach police detective Tilley was already in route to the Alabama location for the purpose of serving an arrest warrant upon Appellant.

Upon the arrival of Det. Tilley, the Appellant was served with a warrant for his arrest for the crimes which are the subject of this action by Det. Tilley. A transcript of the portion of the interview following the arrival of Det. Tilley was made. While it shows that the Appellant acknowledged waiving his rights and refers to the Appellant having "asked" to talk to Det. Tilley, there is no description of how or when this contact was made. Again, the Appellant did not initiate the contact, but it was initiated by Det. Murphy, ostensibly in order to schedule the reading and service of the warrant. Again, it was only in response to reminders about the death penalty that Appellant discussed the matter of the present offense with Det. Murphy. Such discussion had already begun when Det. Tilley arrived from Panama City Beach.

Appellant thereon gave a third statement. He stated that he had ingested both LSD and cocaine within the day before the event and that he wanted more cocaine and needed money. He had approached Ms. Bailey's home, initially accompanied by Frederick "Bubba" Wilson. While in the residence he

acknowledged that he had struck Ms. Bailey with his fist and that he had sexual activity with Ms. Bailey while she was incapacitated. He denied ever striking her with the fishbat. He finally stated that he departed after rummaging through her purse and removing some cash. His belief of her condition when he left was that Ms. Bailey was injured but not fatally and that she was not dead and would not die as a result of this encounter. Almost immediately upon his return to the Fiesta Hotel he was taken into custody by the Alabama bounty hunters and transported to Baldwin County jail.

Excerpts of the transcripts of these interviews are attached which demonstrate the waivers purportedly obtained by law enforcement and the report of Det. Murphy. After the final incriminating statement Appellant was transported from Alabama to Bay County, Florida, where he was incarcerated in the Bay County, Florida, jail until his trial in November, 2002. He had never had been afforded the opportunity to see counsel regarding this matter while in Baldwin County, Alabama.

2. Facts Developed at the Hearing Pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P § 3.851.

The Appellant was in February, 2002, assigned to be represented by Mr. Walter Smith, Esq., of the Office of the Public Defender For the 14th Judicial Circuit of Florida. (R.008) In preparation for his case Mr. Smith and his

investigator examined the physical evidence and the police reports and made an investigation into the background of the Appellant. This included a trip to his hometown and recovery of his public school records. The Appellant respectfully represents that he and Mr. Smith had a contentious relationship. The Appellant would respectfully submit that Mr. Smith told the Appellant that he did not believe what the Appellant told him about the offense and thought that he had made it up while waiting in jail. Mr. Smith did not request the assistance of an assistant counsel for the preparation of this death penalty case. He did not engage a mitigation specialist or a psychologist. (R.006807-6846

Mr. Smith engaged a psychologist, Jill J. Rowan, Ph.D., from Tallahassee, Florida, to make an examination of the Appellant. She met with the Appellant for 45 minutes with the investigator for Mr. Smith present. (AE.I) She was of the opinion that the Appellant understood the nature of the offense and was capable of participating in his trial. She also made the observation that the Appellant seemed to think he knew more than the appointed Defense counsel. She was not asked and did not look into his background to any significant degree and did not make any evaluation of the impact of this drug addiction and what substances he reported habitually using. That is the only investigation into psychological factors made by the defense before trial. Mr. Smith, although lacking in any formal or even

informal training in psychology, determined that no further psychological or psychiatric examination was necessary. He claimed an ability to make this determination based upon his history with criminal defendants. (R.006838)

Mr. Smith made a motion to suppress the pretrial statements of the Appellant. This matter came for hearing in October, 2002, shortly before the trial. The record does not reflect his appearance or participation in the hearing. More significantly, Det. Murphy from Alabama, who was a critical witness to the pretrial contacts between law enforcement and the Appellant, was not present. The Appellant, whose state of mind is necessarily the focus of such an analysis, was not aware of his right to testify at this hearing and would have testified had he been aware of the significance of this matter. (AE.II)

Appellant's testimony would have explained that he had been held for several weeks in Alabama and had continuously desired counsel regarding this matter but, since he could not afford counsel and since he was not in Florida, this Honorable Court could not supervise his constitutional rights and ensure counsel and no Alabama court had an interest or jurisdiction to do so. He would have further described the numerous approaches and pressure used by Det. Murphy concerning interrogation of the Appellant about this matter, despite having invoked counsel, one approach even occurring after a second request for counsel. (Petition)

The trial commenced with jury selection on November 18, 2002. A jury was selected that day. The trial began the next day. It was substantially completed in a single day of evidence. (TT.entirety) The evidence against the Appellant comprised the evidence from the crime scene, laboratory reports with DNA analysis, the medical examiner's testimony, and the Appellant's pretrial statements. During the presentation of evidence from the crime scene a crime scene analyst, Chuck Richards, gave opinions and analysis amounting to expert blood splatter analysis.

While there had been substantial efforts to analyze the DNA found in Ms. Bailey's vagina with that of the Appellant and several early potential suspects, there had never been more than "presumptive testing" of numerous suspected bloodstains throughout the crime scene. Throughout the examination by the State Mr. Richards was referred to as "Chuck". Mr. Smith had initially objected to allowing such evidence but remained silent while it was presented following a representation from the State Attorney that such testimony would be "limited".

This testimony with cross-examination, may be reviewed at the transcript of proceedings for November 19, 2002, pages 41 through 73. Such reveals that "Chuck" was allowed to testify to numerous "blood splatter" issues to an extent which should have required qualification as an expert. Appellant's defense counsel made no further objections to this and did not challenge his qualifications to render

such testimony to the jury. The exchange was allowed to appear as a simple conversation between friends with the defense counsel appearing as an outsider. This testimony formed the framework of the State's theory of the sequence of events and the facts from which they asserted that Ms. Bailey's homicide was heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

The Appellant did not testify in his defense. The Appellant respectfully submits that, had his counsel permitted him to tell the truth of the matter the would have testified contrary to his pressured final statement to the Panama City police detective Tilley. The Appellant was dissuaded from presenting this testimony by Mr. Smith who stated that he did not believe the testimony and that he should not testify in that manner. Mr. Smith did not report to this Honorable Court that he was embroiled in an ethical conflict with his client and that his client's true desire was to testify and present his version of the events to the jury.

1. Appellant, on the day of the incident, had used LSD and cocaine and had recently used methamphetamine, which he had been manufacturing with Jared Farmer, for sale in the Panama City area. That is how they, and Jared Farmer's parents, had been funding their trip to Panama City. They approached the house with three persons. Mr. Farmer and the Appellant went to the house while Bubba Wilson was to be a lookout. Mr. Farmer knocked on the door and when Ms.

Bailey approached he (Farmer) forcefully pushed his way in and struck Ms. Bailey. The Appellant looked through her belongings to try and ascertain whether she had law enforcement identification. He did not remove any credit cards or clothing of hers from the premises.

- 2. The Appellant, because of his fear and paranoia, did buy and carry a fish bat but never used this on Ms. Bailey.
- 3. After this encounter Appellant panicked and fled the scene, leaving Jared Farmer. The Appellant did not take any clothing or other items of Ms. Bailey's from the premises.
- 4. The Appellant would have also described the circumstances surrounding his statements to Det. Tilley and Det. Murphy, if such had still been admitted by the Court, in order to allow the jury to consider whether they were voluntary.

The only evidence presented by Appellant in defense was the recall of Det. Tilley, the lead detective who had investigated the case, delivered the warrant to the Appellant, and taken statements from the Appellant. His direct examination was focused on the potential effects of drug abuse, although Det. Tilley was never qualified as an expert to do this. On cross-examination he continued with this line of testimony and was then able to render opinions about the Appellant's state of mind and level of awareness which were damaging to the Appellant.

The Appellant would have also testified and presented evidence during his mitigation phase that he was and had been a chronic abuser of drugs, particularly methamphetamine, for several years before this incident. He had experienced this paranoia on prior occasions including at least one wherein he suspected that there were law enforcement agents present at an event in which he was using these substances with friends.

The Appellant would further, had he been afforded the opportunity, have presented expert testimony that he had a long history with these drugs, that the paranoia and lack of control are recognized occurrences with these drugs combinations, and that it was this paranoia and lack of control that caused him to embark on the event which led to the tragic death of Ms. Bailey. The Appellant would further have desired to express his extreme remorse for the loss of Ms. Bailey before the jury as well as for the loved ones of Ms. Bailey's family. Such was presented at rhe evidentiary hearing of December 17-19, 2007 (R.00714=759))

The penalty phase was also presented by Mr. Smith with no assistance from other counsel. It began the day immediately after the jury's verdicts of guilt to all charges of the indictment. No expert testimony was presented. The Appellant never was seen to have shown any remorse or sorrow for the loss of Ms. Bailey and for his role in it. There was no development of the background of the

Appellant nor no presentation, in the penalty phase, of the impact of his years of drug abuse. There was, likewise, no discussion of the Appellant's having frequently moved during his adolescence. In fact, the Appellant had rarely remained in the same location or attend the same school for more than eighteen months and did not complete high school. He did obtain a GED. Mr. Smith had effectively delegated the task of coordinating the mitigation of the offense to Appellant's alcoholic father, who passed away several months before the trial. (R.00845)

C. Points on Appeal.

Point One: The Poor Communication Between Appellant and Trial Defense Counsel Resulted in Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

Point Two: Appeallant Was Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel in the Presentation of His Miranda Argument to the Court as Well as in the Inability to Argue the Issue of the Voluntariness of His Confession to the Jury.

Point Three: The Appellant Was Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel by the Failure of His Attorney to Make an Adequate Challenge to the Forensic Serological Evidence and by Allowing an Unqualified Witness Render a Prejudicial Opinion.

Point Four: Appellant Was Denied Effective Assistance of Counsel by the Presentation of the Lead Police Detective as His Only Defense Witness.

Point Five: Appellant Was Not Effectively Represented in the Penalty Phase since the Penalty Phase Was Presented by the Same Attorney as the Guilt Phase, since the Case Was Not Prepared, and since Psychological Assistance Had Not Been Sought.

Point Six: The Cumulative Effect of All of the Errors and Omissions of Counsel Requires Reversal and Remand for a New Trial.

Point Seven: Florida's death penalty procedures deny due process within the meaning of Ring v Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428, 2443 (2002) and Apprendi v New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466.

Point Eight: Lethal Injection Is Cruel and Unusual Punishment and Violates the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

D. Standard of Review.

All issues raised herein comprising purely legal determinations should be reviewed de novo under the harmless error standard. To the extent that factual decisions are reviewed, such should be reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

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