IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL GLENN EVERETT,

Appellant,

V.

Case No. SC08-1636

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

For the deficiency prong, the standard for counsel's performance is "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." Stein v. State, 995 So.2d 329, 335 (Fla. 2008), quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. "[C]ounsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690.

"The object of an ineffectiveness claim is not to grade counsel's performance." 466 U.S. at 697. "[O]missions are inevitable." Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1313 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc). "[T]he issue is not what is possible or 'what is prudent or appropriate, but only what is constitutionally compelled.'" Id. at 1313, quoting Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776 (1987). The standard is not whether counsel would have had "nothing to lose" in pursuing a defense. See Knowles v. Mirzayance, U.S. , 129 S.Ct. 1411; 173 L.Ed. 2d 251, 2009 U.S. LEXIS 2329 (2009).

Everett must establish that his counsel's performance was "so patently unreasonable that no competent attorney would have chosen it," <u>Haliburton v. Singletary</u>, 691 So.2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997) ("trial counsel's decision to forgo Watson's testimony"). "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

Extensive experience of trial defense counsel can inform the evaluation whether a defendant has met Strickland's deficiency prong. See, e.g., Henry v. State, 948 So.2d 609, 619-20 (Fla. 2006) (citing to defense counsel's extensive experience); Jones v. State, 732 So.2d 313, 319-20 n.5 (Fla. 1999) ("We give the conclusion of Davis in this respect substantial deference in light of his experience in representing capital defendants at the time he represented appellant"), citing Provenzano v. Singletary, 148 F.3d 1327, 1332 (11th Cir. 1998) ("Our strong reluctance to second guess strategic decisions is even greater where those decisions were made by experienced criminal defense counsel"); Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d

1305, 1316 (11th Cir. 2000) ("When courts are examining the performance of an experienced trial counsel, the presumption that his conduct was reasonable is even stronger"). Here, trial defense counsel detailed his extensive experience. (See PCR/V 807-808)

"For the prejudice prong, the reviewing court must determine whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for the deficiency, the result of the proceeding would have been different. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695, 104 S.Ct. 2052; see also Valle v. State, 705 So.2d 1331, 1333 (Fla.1997)." Evans v. State, 975 So.2d 1035, 1043 (Fla. 2007)

On appeal, the trial court's factual findings are presumed correct and merit affirmance if supported by competent, substantial evidence. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Ford v. State</u>, 955 So. 2d 550, 553 (Fla. 2007) ("Because both prongs of the Strickland test present mixed questions of law and fact, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions de novo"), <u>citing Sochor v.</u> State, 883 So.2d 766, 771-72 (Fla. 2004).

ISSUE "B" (IAC COMMUNICATION): DID POOR COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE DEFENDANT AND TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL RESULT IN IAC? (IB 26-32) RESTATED)

The Initial Brief's statement of this issue is couched solely in terms of IAC: "B. The poor communication Between Appellant and Trial Defense Counsel Resulted in Ineffective Assistance of Counsel." (IB i, 26, 26) Therefore, this issue, as well as the other IAC issues ("C" through ""G") must meet Strickland's heavy burden to overcome the presumptions of competency and "exercise of reasonable professional judgment," especially

here where Everett's defense counsel was very experienced (<u>See</u> PCR/V 807-808). Everett's appellate claims fail to meet either of <u>Strickland</u>'s prongs.

Juxtaposing the issue statement of "B" with the text following it, it appears that this issue asserts an overarching premise for two claims that follow it: Due to trial defense counsel Walter Smith's poor, or lack of, communication with Everett, experienced defense counsel Smith ineffectively represented Everett's interests in attacking the admissibility of Everett's statements to law enforcement (ISSUE "C" infra) and in presenting mitigation evidence (ISSUE "F" infra). This claim contends that if there had been better communication, then Everett "would have certainly testified regarding the matter of his pretrial statements" and evidence of Everett's "substance abuse and paranoia" would have been presented at the penalty phase. (IB 32)

The State addresses ISSUES "C" (alleged IAC regarding the suppression motion) and "F" (alleged IAC regarding penalty phase mitigation) as such under those issues <u>infra</u>. However, to the degree that ISSUE "B" suggests a communication claim per se, that is, a claim that Everett had a right to a certain frequency or quality of communication, it is meritless. Mere allegations of inadequate communication would have been insufficient to trigger an inquiry under <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973). <u>A fortiori</u>, in postconviction such allegations are insufficient to meet <u>Strickland</u>'s heavy burdens. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So.2d 854, 869 (Fla. 2002) (affirmed trial court rejection of IAC "allegation that

there was a break down in communications"; defendant trying to push case to trial undermining trial preparation; "this claim is, at best, facially insufficient"); Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 758 (Fla. 2001) ("lack of contact between Stephens and his attorneys" and "dissatisfaction with counsel" not by themselves "question[ing] counsel's competency"); Kenney v. State, 611 So.2d 575 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (expression of dissatisfaction because of frequency of visits to jail, not a complaint of ineffectiveness); Wilson v. State, 753 So.2d 683, 687 n.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) ("a complaint based on inadequate conferences with counsel, without a more specific claim of incompetence, does not require a full Nelson inquiry"); Soto v. State, 751 So. 2d 633, 636 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) ("Mere failure to make what a defendant considers adequate visits to him in jail is not an issue of competency").

Analogously, an allegation that a trial defense counsel was under the influence of a substance does not constitute, and is irrelevant to proving, IAC unless and until there is a predicate of proof of ineffectiveness. See Bryan v. State, 753 So.2d 1244, 1247-50 (Fla. 2000) ("because Stokes' representation of Bryan was not deficient, and given that Bryan has not suffered any prejudice pursuant to Stokes' representation, the issue of whether Stokes was an alcoholic at the time of trial is irrelevant under Strickland").

Thus, concerning the effects of any deficient communication, the trial court correctly concluded:

[T]he defendant has failed to establish that any problems in communication between he and Mr. Smith resulted in any specific

action or inaction on the part of Mr. Smith that were 'ineffective' in Mr. Smith's representation. See Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 758 (Fla. 2001); Sweet v. State, 810 So.2d 854, 869 (Fla. 2002).

(PCR/IV 657) As such, there was no "action or inaction" that could constitute Strickland prejudice.

ISSUE "B" mentions in passing that "Mr. Smith and Appellant did not get along well" (IB 28) and then later picks up with this theme by contending that it resulted in Appellant not having the opportunity to present his theory of defense, not testifying at the suppression hearing, presenting Everett's "revelations about his substance abuse and paranoia" (IB 32, alleged IAC penalty phase also addressed in ISSUE "F"). Concerning the "theory of defense" and Everett testifying at the suppression hearing, the initial Brief fails to cite any specificity whatsoever, making any such claim in ISSUE "B" undeveloped and thereby unpreserved at the appellate level. See Jones v. State, 966 So.2d 319, 330 (Fla. 2007) ("In his reply brief, Jones raises for the first time a claim that ... the trial court abused its discretion by ... "; "we need not address it"); Whitfield v. State, 923 So.2d 375, 379 (Fla. 2005) ("we summarily affirm because Whitfield presents merely conclusory arguments"); Hall v. State, 823 So.2d 757, 763 (Fla.2002) ("Hall made no argument regarding equal protection in his initial brief; thus, he is procedurally barred from making this argument in his reply brief"); Lawrence v. State, 831 So.2d 121, 133 (Fla. 2002) ("Lawrence complains, in a single sentence ... bare claim is unsupported by argument); Sweet v. State, 810 So.2d 854, 870 (Fla. 2002) ("Sweet simply recites these claims from his postconviction motion in a sentence or two"; unpreserved).

Concerning any general negative impact of the relationship between Smith and Everett and concerning supposed IAC penalty phase, the trial court correctly reasoned:

The defendant also claims Mr. Smith was 'hostile' to him in their communications with each other. In response to questions at the evidentiary hearing concerning the relationship between the defendant and his trial attorney, Mr. Smith gave the following answers:

- Q. Did your, I think it was described as not really getting along with the defendant, did that interfere in any [] way in the transfer of information between the two of you?
- A. No, I don't get along with a lot of my clients, you know, and I understand why. They're in I'm over there telling them, look, the best you're going to get is a life sentence, there is not much I can do for you, you know, your confession is coming in, all this evidence is coming in. They don't want to hear that. They want somebody to go tell them, look, we got an out here, I found a loophole to get you off. And, you know, at that point sometimes the relationship goes sour.
- Q. Did it in anyway lessen the attempts that you made on behalf of Paul Everett in this case? (Evidentiary hearing transcript page 139, lines 11-25)
- A. No, I did everything I thought I could do. You know, even, we went up to Alabama, my investigator and I, trying to find witnesses once his father died. We just, we went to his school, we talked to his principal, his quidance counselor, talked to a couple of his friends that we ran down up there. We, it just wasn't much redeeming about him. He wasn't a Boy Scout, he wasn't an athlete, he wasn't a scholar, you know, he didn't go to church. It was hardly anything that we could cull out of that and present to a jury. He never had a job. You know, it was tough. I mean, this is the first case I've ever had where I wasn't able to come up with something. So it was, it was sort of frustrating but, you know, like I said, we did everything we could, we just, we just ran into dead ends every time we investigated a certain avenue. So it wasn't much more I could do. Once that statement was presented to the jury, I mean, it was lights out after that. (Evidentiary hearing transcript, page 140, lines 1-17).

*** The defendant is not entitled to relief as to this first ground.

(PCR/IV 657) See also ISSUE "F" infra. Further, as will be argued in ISSUE "F" infra, Everett's postconviction mitigation evidence falls far-short of demonstrating Strickland prejudice.

Beyond the forgoing arguments, the balance of ISSUE "B" appears to be an attempt to re-litigate the admissibility of Everett's incriminating November 27, 2001, statement, which this Court resolved through a lengthy analysis on direct appeal. See Everett v. State, 893 So.2d 1278, 1282-87 (Fla. 2004). As such, the balance of ISSUE "B" is procedurally barred. See Johnson v. State, 921 So.2d 490, 505 (Fla. 2005) ("Issues regarding whether a confession should have been suppressed as involuntary are issues that could have been raised on direct appeal"; "procedurally barred"), citing Christopher v. State, 489 So.2d 22, 24 (Fla. 1986); see also Muehleman v. State, 3 So.3d 1149, 1164 (Fla. 2009) ("law of the case doctrine bars consideration of those issues actually considered and decided in a former appeal in the same case"). However, in an abundance of caution, the State addresses the other aspects of ISSUE "B."

ISSUE "B" argues (IB 27) that "Mr. Smith should have known that Appellant would be his client" and corresponded with Everett to tell him not to make any statements to law enforcement. The answer to this argument is found within the Initial Brief: "It is important to acknowledge that it was not possible for this indigent Appellant to have had counsel appointed in Alabama." (IB 27) While the State does not concede that anyone in Florida should have known of any indigency (See discussion of Everett's \$4,000 to \$6,000 income infra), Assistant Public Defender Smith should not be held responsible for a task that would "not [be] possible" (IB 27) for him to do.

Beyond the Initial Brief's concession, the trial court's order correctly analyzed this allegation as follows:

The defendant complains that his attorney, Walter Smith, should have corresponded with the defendant while the defendant was incarcerated in Alabama and law enforcement officers were investigating and interviewing him as to the instant case. The defendant argues Mr. Smith should have advised him to refrain from making statements until he could be represented and counseled.

However, the evidence reflects Mr. Smith was with the Public Defender's Office and his office was appointed to represent the defendant after the defendant was returned to Bay County and charged with the current offenses. Upon undertaking the representation of the defendant, Mr. Smith filed a Motion to Suppress the statements made by the defendant on November 14, 2001 at 4:23 p.m. at the Baldwin County Jail, on November 19, 2001 at the Baldwin County Jail and on November 27, 2001 at 10:55 a.m. at the Baldwin County Jail. The record reflects law enforcement stopped their interview of the defendant during the November 14th statement when the defendant stated he wished to talk to an attorney. The defendant, through his attorney, based his Motion to Suppress on his allegations that he had exercised his right to an attorney while he was being questioned during his first interview on November 14, 2001 and that any further interrogation was improperly conducted by law enforcement on November 19th and 27th because they initiated the further contact. The defendant's attorney argued law enforcement initiated the contact when they asked for the biological sample from the defendant.

The Court held a hearing on that motion and denied the defendant's motion. At that hearing the Court found it was the defendant who initiated the renewed contact with law enforcement officers on November 19, 2001 and not the other way around. The Court also found the defendant initiated the November 27th[] interview after being served with the arrest warrant for these charges. Because the defendant initiated both contacts with law enforcement, the Court found the defendant's case fell within the exception to the rule concerning re[]instating contact by law enforcement officer after a defendant has requested counsel. See Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), Jones v. State, 748 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1999) and Davis v. State, 698 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1997). This order was affirmed as part of the appeal of the defendant's judgment and sentence in this case. The defendant cannot now, in hindsight, claim his lawyer, who was not representing him at the time he made the statements, should have advised him not to make any statements.

(PCR/IV 655-57, paragraph breaks supplied)

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